1953

National Trust Company, Ltd. V. Helen Duys et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Florence P. Howard, also known as F. P. Howard,
died in Montreal, Canada on the twenty-eighth day of
January, 1952.

On the third day of April, 1952, the Walker Bank & Trust Company, a Utah banking corporation, filed a Petition in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, entitled, "Petition for Probate of Will and Application for Commission to Take Testimony and Settle Interrogatories" (Record, page 5). Said Petition set forth the names and residences of certain people designated as the heirs, legatees and devisees of the decedent, so far as then known to the Walker Bank & Trust Company (Record, page 6, 7 and 8). Not one of the people on said list was a resident of the State of Utah, and most of them were residents of the Dominion of Canada. Your Appellants, herein, were not listed on said Petition in any manner and are among the nearest heirs of the said Florence P. Howard, also known as F. P. Howard.

That on the first day of May, 1952, the Walker Bank & Trust Company filed a "Supplemental Petition for Probate of Will" (Record, pages 26 to 30). Said Supplemental Petition allegedly set forth additional names and residences of certain heirs, legatees and devisees (Record, page 26), although the name of no additional person was contained in said Supplemental Petition.

No publication of the Petition or Supplemental Petition for Probate of Will was made in any paper, (Record page 25), and the notices given were, mailing of notices, but not to the Appellants, (Transcript, 294 to 295), and three postings: One of which was at the West entrance

of the City and County Building, in Salt Lake City, Salt Lake County, State of Utah (Transcript 274). The second notice was in the Federal Post Office on Vine Street in Murray, Utah, immediately East of State Street (Transcript, 274). The third notice was on a bulletin board located immediately East of State Street on 33rd South Street in Salt Lake County, State of Utah (Transcript, 274). Said bulletin board is a wooden board, approximately three and one-half feet wide and approximately five and one-half feet long, standing on two wooden supports, approximately two inches by four inches in size (Transcript 275), and said board is not illuminated and is not designated as a public posting board, nor has it any sign on it stating that it is a public posting board (Transcript, 281). It is merely a flat board upon which the notices are placed by means of thumb tacks or tacks (Transcript 282), and said board is located between the North sidewalk of 33rd South Street and the North boundary of the vehicular travelled portion of 33rd South Street, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, (Transcript, 275). The notices were placed on that part of the board facing the vehicular travelled portion of said street, and the rear of the board being to said sidewalk. Papers, so posted, cannot be seen from the sidewalk to the North of the board (Transcript, 276). Water and splashings from the travel, of course, get upon said posted notices (Transcript 275 and 282). Immediately to the rear of said board and North of said sidewalk is a lot containing trees and lawn and a building known as the South Salt

Lake Stake Tabernacle is to the East and North of said board. Said board is not enclosed in any building (Transcript, 271 to 287).

On the fourteenth day of May, 1952, based upon such posting, and without any notice having been mailed to these Appellants (Transcript, 294), four holographic instruments were admitted to probate as the last Will and Testament of said Florence P. Howard, also known as F. P. Howard, deceased (Record, page 33), and the Walker Bank & Trust Company was appointed Executor of the Estate of said decedent (Record, page 35).

Subsequent to the admission of the instruments to probate, the Walker Bank & Trust Company, realizing that it had listed in its Petition, almost entirely persons listed as friends and knowing there were heirs whose names had not been set forth on the Petition for Probate, and having determined that decedent had relatives other than those who were listed in the Petition for Probate of Will, petitioned the Court for an Order (Record, pages 53 to 55), which was granted (Record page 52), on the third day of September, 1952, directing the Walker Bank & Trust Company to notify the additionally discovered heirs that said documents had been admitted to probate as the last Will and Testament of decedent. That your Appellant, National Trust Company, Ltd. was not included in the list of names to whom notice was given on the said third day of September, 1952, although in August

of 1952, the said Walker Bank & Trust Company had written to the National Trust Company, Ltd. and Colina Ferrie (Record, page 51).

On the twelfth day of November, 1952, Helen Duys, Ernest F. Howard and Ethel Forrest filed a Contest of Order Admitting Wills to Probate (Record, page 131). No notice of said Contest was served upon either of the Appellants herein (Record, pages 129, 130, 135 and 136), although Colina Ferrie was then an heir of record.

On or about the sixth day of December, 1952, Hilda, Mildred and Roger Black and Rachel Helps, filed an Answer to said Contest (Record, page 62).

On the sixteenth day of December, 1952, the McGill University and the Protestant Board of School Commissioners of Montreal, each filed Answers to said Contest (Record, pages 64 and 66), and Walker Bank & Trust Company also filed an Answer to said Contest (Record, page 119).

On the fifteenth day of November, 1952, the Walker Bank & Trust Company filed a "Petition to Construe Will" (Record, page 74). That the Petition to Construe Will and the Contest of Will, were consolidated for hearing.

On the fourteenth day of January, 1953, Appellants herein, filed a Motion to Intervene in the said Will Contest and asked permission to file the attached Answer and

Cross-Complaint in Intervention (Record, page 141). On the same date, they filed their position and Answer in the Petition to construe the Will (Record, page 162).

On the nineteenth day of January, 1953, the Motion to Intervene was heard in said District Court and the Honorable Judge thereof, denied Appellants' right to intervene in said Will Contest (Record, page 196).

After denying Appellants right to intervene in the Will Contest, the Court heard arguments in relation to the construction of the four holographic instruments which had been admitted as a Will, and on February 10, 1953, Ordered, "That the four instruments in the Executor's Petition to Construe the Will are declared to be the last Will and Testament of the deceased, Florence P. Howard, and that all four Wills are valid and constitute the Will of said deceased and should be administered as a whole, except insofar as they are irreconcilable as to particular bequests, and each should be given effect insofar as possible." (Record 198). Thereafter, and after this Intermediate Appeal was granted by your Honorable Court, the Attorneys for Helen Duys, Ernest F. Howard and Ethel Forrest prepared, and on March 22, 1953, asked the Court to sign, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree in the Will Contest, wherein it was stated that the Appellants herein were represented in said action and ignored the Order, theretofore signed by the Court, on February 5, 1953, denying leave to intervene, and said Findings, Conclusions and Decree pur-

ported to dismiss the Cross-Complaint in Intervention, although Appellants were not permitted by the Court to file it or to support it by evidence or law, (Record, page 247 to 249).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT NO. I.

THAT THE POSTING OF NOTICES IN THE ESTATE OF FLORENCE P. HOWARD, ALSO KNOWN AS F. P. HOWARD, DECEASED, DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE STATUTORY OR CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS, AND THEREFORE, THE ENTIRE PROBATE PROCEEDINGS ARE A NULLITY.

- A. THE POSTINGS WERE NOT IN THREE PUBLIC PLACES, AS DEFINED BY STATUTE.
- B. THE NOTICES, AS GIVEN, WERE NOT CALCULATED TO IMPART KNOWLEDGE OF THE PROBATE PROCEEDINGS TO THE HEIRS, DEVISEES AND LEGATEES.
- C. NO NOTICE WAS MAILED TO THE HEIRS OR TO APPELLANTS.

POINT NO. II.

APPELLANTS' MOTION TO INTERVENE SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED AS A MATTER OF RIGHT, AND THE COURT HAD NO DISCRETION IN THE MATTER.

POINT NO. III.

STATUTE OF LIMITATION HAD NOT RUN ON INTERVENTION.

POINT NO. IV.

APPELLANTS HAD REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THEY WOULD BE SUCCESSFUL IF PERMITTED TO INTERVENE.

POINT NO. V.

SINCE THE PROPOSED INTERVENORS WERE DENIED INTERVENTION, THE COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE MADE FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND JUDGMENT AS THOUGH THEY HAD BEEN GRANTED A TRIAL AND WERE PARTIES, AND SHOULD NOT HAVE ATTEMPTED TO BIND THEM BY SUCH FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECREE, AS SIGNED IN THE PURPORTED WILL CONTEST.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I.

THAT THE POSTING OF NOTICES IN THE ESTATE OF FLORENCE P. HOWARD, ALSO KNOWN AS F. P. HOWARD, DECEASED, DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE STATUTORY OR CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS, AND THEREFORE, THE ENTIRE PROBATE PROCEEDINGS ARE A NULLITY.

- A. THE POSTINGS WERE NOT IN THREE PUBLIC PLACES, AS DEFINED BY STATUTE.
- B. THE NOTICES, AS GIVEN, WERE NOT CALCULATED TO IMPART KNOWLEDGE OF THE PROBATE PROCEEDINGS TO THE HEIRS, DEVISEES AND LEGATEES.
- C. NO NOTICE WAS MAILED TO THE HEIRS OR TO APPELLANTS.

Proper notice of the Petition to admit wills to probate must be given to all heirs, devisees and legatees of the decedent, or the proceedings of the Court are void.

In *Wells v. Kelley*, 11 U. 421, 40 P. 705, the Court stated:

“The law is too well settled to require references to authorities that where jurisdiction depends on the publication of a notice, and the trial of the cause is proceeded with before such publication is complete, the Court acts without jurisdiction and its orders are void.”

Section 75-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides:

“Notice and Hearing—When the Petition is filed it must be set for hearing, notice of which shall be given by publication or by posting as the court or clerk may direct and by the mailing of notices to the heirs, and to the executor, if he is not the petitioner.”

The Court may order either publication or posting, but the mailing to the heirs is mandatory.

It will be noted that the Court limited the Clerk in the mailing of notices to certain named persons (Record, page 25), so that the Clerk could not and was not permitted to use independent judgment or to mail notices to any heirs whom he might find. He was limited to the “heirs, legatees and devisees * * * who are listed and whose addresses are shown in the Schedule attached to the Supplemental Petition for Probate of Will.” Such limitation upon the mailing of notices to the heirs is

contrary to the statute above quoted and is an abuse of the court of its power, particularly when such notices are jurisdictional. Neither the Judge, nor the Clerk may make a valid order setting aside the jurisdictional requirements in such a case.

In re Bunting's Estate, 30 U. 251, 84 P. 109, no notice was mailed to the heirs at law. The Supreme Court held that the lower Court had acted in excess of its jurisdiction and set aside the probate proceedings. It stated:

“The purpose of the law in requiring notice to be given of the time and place of hearing petitions for letters of administration is to advise those who are interested in the proceedings and give them an opportunity to be present, and, if they so desire, make objections to the issuance of letters to the party petitioning therefor. * * *”

“Therefore, because Guheen may not have had actual, positive knowledge at the very moment of filing his petition, of the place of residence of the heirs, all of whom were minors at the time Bunting died, and all, except one, at the time the petition was filed, did not dispense with the necessity of mailing notices to them as required by Sec. 3818, Revised Statutes, 1898, of the place and time of the hearing on the petition at Blackfoot, Idaho, the place where Bunting resided at the time of his death, and which was known to Guheen when he filed his petition.”

The Court, in the above case, quoted with approval, 2 *Abbott's Probate Law*, Sec. 853, wherein it was stated:

“All jurisdiction of persons or property depends upon notice. It is the one fundamental and indispensable foundation for ‘due process of law’, and it may be said, as a rule without exception, that no judicial action whatsoever, is valid or binding without some notice, actual or constructive. It is likewise fundamental that the requirements for giving notice must be strictly complied with, and this rule applies with increased force to what are termed ‘special proceedings’. Proceedings in probate belong to this class.”

Most of the names set forth in the Petition and Supplemental Petition of Walker Bank & Trust Company, for probate of the will, were listed as friends. Walker Bank & Trust Company, by its “Supplemental Petition to Probate”, at least implied to the Court that additional heirs, legatees and devisees had been found, but the said Supplemental Petition contains the name of not a single additional person. Later on, as shown by the Affidavit of Walker Bank & Trust Company (Record, page 168-169), the bank determined from Rosamond Lamb that many additional persons were heirs of Florence P. Howard, also known as F. P. Howard, deceased. This determination was apparently made well after the instruments had been admitted to probate and after the time of the jurisdictional notices. It will be noted that Walker Bank & Trust Company was well acquainted with Rosamond Lamb. Rosamond Lamb had picked up the old wills from the bank and had taken Mrs. Howard to Montreal with her. Mrs. Howard died while visiting with Rosamond Lamb and in a hospital in Montreal where the

said Rosamond Lamb lived. Rosamond Lamb had, after the death of Mrs. Howard, filed a request to have a Five Thousand Dollar (\$5,000.00) check, issued by Mrs. Howard prior to her death, honored and paid (Record, page 44), and the said Rosamond Lamb was one of those who the bank knew to be associated with the affairs of Mrs. Howard. This should have caused Walker Bank & Trust Company to inquire of Miss Lamb, one of the very close friends of Mrs. Howard, as to who were the heirs of Mrs. Howard. If the bank had so inquired, the names of the people listed in the Affidavit of the bank, would have been known to the bank prior to the Petition and prior to the Supplemental Petition for Probate of Will, and the jurisdictional requirements of mailing could have been met.

In the case of *Barrett v. Whitney*, 36 U. 574, 106 P. 522, cited with approval in the *Bunting* case, the Court said:

“Section 4026 provides the time for which notice must be given, and this court, in a direct proceedings, (in re Bunting’s Estate, 30 U. 251, 84 P. 109), held that, unless the notice is given for the time and in the manner provided in said Section, the court acquires no jurisdiction of the proceedings.”

The case further implies that the court must be fully advised of all the premises, including names of all heirs, or if there may be unknown heirs, or heirs with unknown addresses, that fact must be set forth. The court stated:

“The heirs may be numerous, and may live in different parts of this, or even in some other Country. When their names and places of residence are thus given, or when the fact is made to appear that they are unknown, *as it must be* (emphasis added) in the position for the letters of administration, the probate court is fully advised with respect to the true situation. While the court may assume that, as a matter of law, and for the purpose of jurisdiction, both the known and unknown heirs are before the court, yet, whether the heirs are living in different states, or otherwise, it cannot be presumed that a prudent and careful Judge would ordinarily proceed to distribute, without notice to the heirs, or to some accredited person representing them.”

In the case at Bar, it is obvious that none of the heirs were residents of the State of Utah. That most of the heirs, devisees and legatees were residents of the Dominion of Canada, and a “prudent and careful Judge would ordinarily proceed” to have notices published in the Dominion of Canada, or at some other place calculated to come to the attention of the unknown heirs of Florence P. Howard, also known as F. P. Howard, deceased, that a will was to be admitted to probate. Note, that the publication of notice to creditors was had in the South Salt Lake Herald (Record, page 35A and 38). Did the Walker Bank & Trust Company have full realization of its duty to give the kind of notice calculated to come to the attention of the heirs or creditors of a person from Canada, who was in Canada when she died?

In re Phillips' Estate, 86 U. 358, 44 P. 2d 699, the court discussed the question of whether proper notice was given to convey jurisdiction, and in so doing, stated:

“The law did not intend that a mere obeisance should be done to the obligation of providing the world with notice when jurisdiction itself depended upon such notice. The notice is highly substantive and not conventional; it is intended not only to give notice to parties interested, but to raise a notoriety which through the common concourse of mankind might reach persons interested. At a time it was doubted by thoughtful members of the bar whether posting would stand the test of due process. The best that posting can do toward giving notice is none too good. Certainly, concentrating the three postings in a limited area where they simply duplicated the effect of one is insufficient. It does not give the notoriety which in the end may reach interested parties. It does not meet the requirements of the statute. Not an answer is to say that in all probability persons in Boston would not have had communicated to them directly or indirectly notice of the pending probate proceedings, even though the notices were posted widely over the county.”

In the case at Bar, nothing was done, “to raise notoriety, through which the common concourse of mankind might reach persons interested.” The Petitioner for Letters Testamentary knew that Mrs. Florence P. Howard came originally from Canada, was born and grew to young womanhood in that Dominion, and that her family, insofar as they had knowledge of them, continued to re-

side in Canada. However, it did nothing, nor did it attempt to do anything, to cause any notoriety in the Dominion of Canada, which might come to the attention of any of the heirs of Mrs. Florence P. Howard, also known as F. P. Howard.

In *re Phillips' Estate*, the court further stated:

“That the mere negative finding that the posting in this case is not sufficient, is of little guide to the persons whose duty it is to post notices. On the other hand, an affirmative rule, of what is sufficient, depends so much upon the situation in every county, and perhaps the situation in the cases themselves, that hard and fast rules cannot be enunciated. * * * There should be customary places at which all notices should be posted, which places should be at conspicuously public points and not on the by-ways. * * *”

“The proof of posting, contained in the probate files, reveals the posting to have been at the West entrance of the City and County Building, on University Avenue, and on Center Street. We cannot take judicial notice that these streets are in Provo, or that they are actually within 80 yards of each other. We are confined to the facts set out in the petition to set aside for that information.”

In the case at Bar, the testimony shows that all notices were posted immediately adjacent to the East of State Street, as it runs through Salt Lake County (Transcript, 280). The notice posted in the Post Office at Murray, was posted on Federal property, and within

the jurisdiction of the United States. The notice posted on 33rd South Street was not such a notice as would give notoriety to the pending action. The paper upon which the notice was written, could not be seen by people walking along the sidewalk, and could be seen only by cars driving West, or parked on the North side of 33rd South Street (Transcript, 276). The notice, itself, could not be read from such cars, nor could it be read by people along the sidewalk on 33rd South Street. The only possibility for reading the same, would be on foot, between the "bulletin board" and the vehicular travelled portion of 33rd South Street. The testimony further shows that the "bulletin board" was situated in such a position that it was a common occurrence for muddy water to be splashed thereon and to obliterate the notices posted thereon (Transcript, 282). As a practical matter, the only way such a notice would be seen, would be for a person to make a special trip for that particular purpose and to walk around behind the "bulletin board" and to read therefrom.

We further desire to call the Court's attention to the fact that no notice was mailed to the Appellants herein (Section 75-4-8, and Section 75-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953), on the Petition or Supplemental Petition to Probate the Will, and the sole and only basis upon which it might be claimed that notice was given to them was the posting heretofore discussed, which does not meet the requirements of the constitutional provision of due

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