1953

National Trust Company, Ltd. V. Helen Duys et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

NOTICE OF THE PROBATE PROCEEDINGS WAS GIVEN ACCORDING TO LAW AND AS DIRECTED BY THE COURT.

The Court's attention is directed to the following sections of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953:

"75-3-3. CONTENTS OF PETITION. A Petition for the probate of a Will should show:

"(3) The names, ages and residences of the heirs, legatees and devisees of the decedent, so far as known to the Petitioner."

"75-3-5. NOTICE AND HEARING. When the petition is filed it must be set for hearing,

notice of which shall be given by publication or by posting as the court or clerk may direct and by the mailing of notice to the heirs, and to the executor, if he is not the petitioner.”

“75-14-1. NOTICES — TIME AND MANNER OF GIVING. Whenever it is provided in this title, or whenever the court, judge or clerk may direct, that notice shall be given, and the manner of giving the same is not provided or directed, it shall be sufficient, if the notice is published in any newspaper having general circulation in the county, or if posted, as provided in section 75-14-9; and in any case in which the time is not provided or directed it shall be sufficient, whether the notice is given by publication or posting, that the notice be given for not less than ten days; but the court or judge, or the clerk when authorized, may order or direct the precise manner of giving notice, or more than one manner of giving the same, or may prescribe a longer notice than ten days. The clerk shall give the notice where not otherwise provided, and it shall be his duty to mail copies of all notices in probate proceedings to the known heirs, devisees and legatees.”

“75-14-9. NOTICE BY POSTING — REQUIREMENTS. In all cases in which it is provided in this title, or in which the court, judge or clerk may direct, that notice be given by posting, it shall be sufficient if the notice or order is posted in at least three public places in the county, one of which must be at the courthouse of the county, for the time required by law, or prescribed by the Court, judge or clerk.”

In addition to the other items required by Section 75-3-3 supra, the original and supplemental petition for probate of will showed “the names, ages and residences of the *heirs*, legatees and devisees of the decedent *so far as known to the Petitioner.*” The record shows that the Petitions were set for hearing as required by Section 75-3-5 supra, and notice thereof was given by posting, as required by Section 75-14-9 supra, and by mailing to “*the known heirs, devisees and legatees*” as required by Section 75-14-1 supra. (Italics supplied.)

Appellants contend that in limiting the Clerk to mailing notice to the persons named in the Petition the Court abused its powers and that such was contrary to the statute. Appellants’ contention would seem to be based solely upon Section 75-3-5. No authority need be cited in support of the proposition that all of the pertinent sections of the statute must be construed together. Section 75-5-3, requires the Petitioner to set forth the “names, ages and residences of the heirs, legatees and devisees of the decedent *so far as known to the Petitioner.*” (Italics ours.) It seems clear that “the known heirs, devisees and legatees” in Section 75-14-1 must mean “those who are known to the Petitioner”, as stated in Section 75-3-3. Nowhere does the statute as a condition precedent to giving notice impose the burden of responsibility on the Clerk or the Court to determine heirship, or to verify, or to ascertain independently the names and residences of the heirs. The statute requires the Petitioner to include *such information regarding the*

heirs, as is then known, in the Petition, and as stated by this Court in *Barrett v. Whitney*, 36 Utah 574, 106 Pac. 522, 527:

“When their names (heirs) and places of residence are thus given, or when the fact is made to appear that they are unknown, as it must be, in the Petition for Letters of Administration, the probate Court is fully advised with respect to the true situation”

and based thereon the Court may direct the manner of giving notice. Or the Court may in its discretion rely upon the provisions of the statutes which apply when “the manner of giving notice is not provided or directed.” The requirement of Section 75-3-5 of “mailing of notice to the heirs” rather than being violated is complied with when notices are mailed to the persons designated in the Petition as “*heirs, legatees and devisees of the decedent, so far as known to the Petitioner.*” (Italics supplied.)

Furthermore, in the instant case, not only were the provisions of the statutes, which would be applicable in cases where the manner of giving notice is not provided or directed, followed, but the Court in fact made an appropriate order specifying precisely what notice should be given, and to whom. The order required that the Petition for Probate of Will be heard on May 14, 1952, “and that notice of the time and place of said hearing be given by posting and by mailing to the heirs, legatees and devisees . . . who are listed and whose addresses are shown in the schedule attached to the Supplemental Petition for

Probate of Will." (Record 25). No contention is made by Appellants that this express direction of the Court was not exactly followed by the Clerk. The notice as specified in the Order required by that Order was given by the Clerk and the requirements of Section 75-14-1 were therefore satisfied.

Appellants rely on *In Re: Bunting's Estate*, 30 Utah 251, 84 Pac. 109. The Petition in the *Bunting* case recites the heirs of the decedent were unknown to the Petitioner. No notice was mailed to them. Elsewhere in the Petition it was made to appear that the Petitioner had knowledge of the names of the heirs and of the name of their Guardian, and that he also knew the place of residence of the father of the heirs, who were minors at the time of their father's death. The Court held that the domicile of the infant is that of his father and that the domicile of the infant is at the place where the father was domiciled at the time of his death, and that inasmuch as the Petitioner knew these facts that notice should have been mailed to the minor heirs. The *Bunting* case has no application to the case at bar. At the time Petitions for Probate of Will were filed Walker Bank and Trust Company had no knowledge of the existence of any persons claiming to be heirs of the decedent, other than those listed in the Petitions.

Appellants would criticize the Bank for failing to obtain more information regarding the heirs of the decedent before filing the Petitions for Probate of Will.

They suggest the Bank should have acquired information from the decedent's nurse, one Rosamond Lamb, when three months before Mrs. Howard's death she picked up the Wills from the safety deposit box in the Bank. It would hardly seem within the bounds of propriety and good taste for the Bank to have made inquiry of Mrs. Howard's nurse as to the contents of any Will or as to who Mrs. Howard's heirs or beneficiaries might be before her death. Certainly the law imposes no such requirement on a prospective Executor.

Appellants state on Page 12 of their Brief:

“If the bank had so inquired, the names of the people listed in the Affidavit of the bank, would have been known to the bank prior to the Petition and prior to the Supplemental Petition for Probate of Will, and the jurisdictional requirements of mailing could have been met.”

This is an admission by Appellants that the Bank at the time of filing the Petitions for Probate of Will did not know of any other relatives or alleged relatives of Mrs. Howard who were later discovered or came forth. As pointed out heretofore, the statute requires notice to be given only to the persons named “so far as known to the Petitioner.” Appellants ignore the fact that the record shows that prior to filing the Petition for Probate the Bank made inquiry of various persons, including Mary Stuart Tinling, the only relative of Mrs. Howard then known to the Bank, in response to which Mrs. Tinling wrote:

“There are no relatives of Mrs. Howard that I know of—certainly there are no nephews, nieces or first cousins. She was very much alone in the world.” (Record 169).

Appellants state on Page 13 of their Brief:

“A ‘prudent and careful Judge would ordinarily proceed’ to have notices published in the Dominion of Canada, or at some other place calculated to come to the attention of the unknown heirs of Florence P. Howard.”

The futility of the statement is apparent on its face. Rather than censure the bench, the Appellants should analyze the facts. The record shows that many parties in interest reside in various scattered places throughout the Dominion of Canada. Where in Canada should publication have been made? The record also shows that many parties in interest reside in various scattered places throughout the United States. It is possible even at this late date that other unknown potential parties in interest might reside in other parts of the world. Where is the “other place calculated to come to the attention of the unknown heirs of Florence P. Howard?” The Appellants are “prudent and careful” not to emphasize the fact that in none of her testamentary instruments does the decedent give clue to the existence of any relative except the aforesaid Mary Stuart Tinling, and especially does she in no way give clue to the existence of Appellants.

It is contended that the posting of notice was not made according to law. Appellants rely chiefly on *In Re*:

Phillips Estate, 86 Utah 358, 44 Pac. 2d 699. The *Phillips* case held that where all notices were posted on the Court House property that they simply duplicated the effect of one and were insufficient. Rather than being an authority in support of Appellants' contention that the posting in the case at bar is insufficient, the *Phillips* case, as will be hereafter shown, supports the Respondent's position that the posting was sufficient.

Posting of Notice was made by Robert A. Olsen. His Affidavit with regard to posting on the original Petition for Probate of Will is found at Page 1 of the record, and his Affidavit with regard to posting on the Supplemental Petition for Probate of Will is found at Page 22 of the record. The following is a quotation from both Affidavits:

"That he posted three copies of the hereto attached notice . . . (giving the date) in three public places Viz: West front entrance of the County Court House; on a public posting board at the Northeast corner of the intersection of 33rd So. & State Streets, and in the Post Office in Murray, Salt Lake County, State of Utah. That said notices remained posted for ten days."

The Court made findings with respect to both Petitions that the Notice had been given according to law (Record 14, 33).

Section 75-14-9 *supra*, states:

"... It shall be sufficient if the notice or order is posted in at least three public places in the

county, one of which must be at the courthouse of the county . . .”

There is no question that one notice was posted at the West side of the courthouse (Record 1, 22, 274). One of the other notices was posted on the main floor of the Post Office in Murray, Utah, which is located on Vine Street about one-half block East of State Street (Record 281). Murray is the second largest city in Salt Lake County and is approximately six miles South of the courthouse. The third notice was posted on a board which was located about 12 feet East of State Street on the Northeast corner of the Intersection of State Street and 33rd South Street (Record 280). The board is referred to in the Affidavit of Robert A. Olsen as a public posting board (Record 1 and 22), and otherwise was described as a bulletin board (Record 281) and a sign board (Record 284). The posting board was a few feet South of the North sidewalk. It is approximately 3 x 5 feet in size and stands approximately two feet above the ground and the top part is about on the level of the eye of an average person (Record 285). It is located in Salt Lake County and not in Salt Lake City (Record 280). It is on the same corner of the intersection as a church building is located (Exhibit 2).

The Court stated in *Re: Phillips Estate*, *supra*:

“The paramount controlling principle which should guide the poster of the notices is that the two notices which are to be posted other than at the courthouse should be placed in the county at

places most likely to reach parties interested. When the two extra courthouse notices have, for a long period of time, been posted at customary points which are in fact different places and not in effect one place, and the experience of such practice leads to a fair conclusion that the postings have served to provide the notice intended, there will be a presumption that such places are places most likely to reach persons interested and that they are within the purview of the statute. There should be customary places at which all such notices should be posted, which places should be at conspicuously public points and not on the byways."

The record shows that the notices in this case were posted in the same places as notices have been posted by the Salt Lake County Clerk for many years (Record 285).

It was held in *Hart v. Smith*, 44 Wis. 213, 2 A. L. R. 1011 that a post office is a public place.

"A board 6 feet long and 10 inches wide, fastened in or against the roadside wall, and facing the road" was held to be a public place in *Seabury v. Howland*, 15 R. I. 446, 8 Atl. 341. It was contended that this place was not safe, as well as public inasmuch as the board might be thrown down or carried away so that the notice might not remain for the time required by statute. However, the Court held the notice had been posted according to law.

The author of *Corpus Juris* states in 66 C. J. S. Page 665:

“There are certain places which *prima facie* may be regarded as public places for the posting of notice, so that the party claiming otherwise must show the grounds of his objection, as, for example, houses of worship, inns, and post offices.” Citing *Hoitt*, v. *Burnham*, 61 N. H. 620, and *Scammon* v. *Scammon*, 28 N. H. 419.

Roach v. *Eugene*, 23 Ore. 376, 31 Pac. 825, cited on page 17 of Appellants’ Brief, rather than holding the notice to be insufficient, as stated by Appellants, actually held that the notice was sufficient. The following is a quotation from the opinion on Page 826:

“The next contention is that the certificate of the recorder does not state the facts which show that copies of the printed notice were posted in three public places. His certificate recites that he posted copies of the printed notice in three conspicuous places in the City of Eugene, to-wit: ‘On the bulletin board at the city hall, and at the courthouse, and on the northwest corner of A. V. Peter’s brick building, situated on the corner of Willamette and Eighth Streets.’ It would be difficult to conceive any statement of facts that would better indicate or show that a notice was posted in a public place than the statement that it was posted on the bulletin board at the city hall, or at the courthouse, or on a store on the corner of two public streets.”

The record and authorities cited above show conclusively that notices were posted according to law.

It has long since been settled in this jurisdiction that probate proceedings are in rem. The legislature has defined what notice is necessary to give the Court jurisdiction. This Court stated in *Barrett v. Whitney*, 36 Utah 575, 106 Pac. 522, 527:

“Probate proceedings being in rem, it was within the power of the Legislature (within reasonable bounds) to say what should constitute sufficient notice to give the court jurisdiction of the estate and what should be sufficient to appraise those interested therein that the court will administer and ultimately distribute the property among the parties in interest.”

In Re: Apostolopoulos's Estate, 68 Utah 344, 250 Pac. 469, it was held that the heirs were not deprived of their property without due process of law by its escheating to the State under the escheat statute, when they failed to make a claim thereto within the statutory period and when notice was given in the estate as required by the statute. In that case the Petition for Letters of Administration alleged on information and belief that the decedent had relatives and heirs in Greece. Notice was given by publication only. None was mailed to the heirs. In answer to the contention of the heirs that they were entitled to actual notice, the Court said on Page 474:

“Where, however, as in the case at bar, the heir is unknown, there is no basis for such a contention whatever, and to attempt to enforce it would be to attempt the impossible. In this jurisdiction the question as to what constitutes due

process of law in probate proceedings has, however, been settled beyond controversy both by our statute and by decisions of this court. The question was directly presented in *Barrett v. Whitney*, 36 Utah 575, 106 P. 522, 37 L. R. A. (N. S.) 368. That case has been the declared law of this state for upwards of 16 years, and, so far as the writer is aware has not been questioned."

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